IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA GOVERNOR CHARLIE CRIST;
KEN PRUITT, AS PRESIDENT OF THE
FLORIDA SENATE; KURT BROWNING, AS
SECRETARY OF STATE; AND JEFFREY
LEWIS, JACKSON FLYTE, JOSEPH GEORGE,
JR., PHILIP MASSA, AND JEFFREY DEEN,
AS CRIMINAL CONFLICT AND CIVIL
REGIONAL COUNSEL,

Appellants,

vs.

FLORIDA ASSOCIATION OF CRIMINAL DEFENSE LAWYERS, INC.,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

On Appeal From The Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit, In And For Leon County, Florida

BILL MCCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

Scott D. Makar (FBN 709697) Solicitor General

CASE NO. SC08-02

Louis F. Hubener (FBN 0140084) Chief Deputy Solicitor General

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
A. Background2
B. Proceedings in the Circuit Court 5
STANDARD OF REVIEW 9
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT11
I. THE OCCCRCs ARE NOT PUBLIC DEFENDERS UNDER ARTICLE V, SECTION 18 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION
II. NEITHER POLICY CONSIDERATIONS NOR THE SIXTH AMENDMENT REQUIRE THAT OCCCRCS BE ELECTIVE OFFICES
III.THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE OCCCRCS FOR CRIMINAL CONFLICT CASES UNDER CHAPTER 2007-62, LAWS OF FLORIDA, IS SEVERABLE IF
UNCONSTITUTIONAL18
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 26
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 26
APPENDIX

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

<u>Burch v. State</u> , 558 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1990)
<u>Bush v. Holmes</u> , 886 So. 2d 340 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004) 21
<u>Bush v. Holmes</u> , 919 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 2006) passin
<u>Carratelli v. State</u> , 961 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 2007) 18
<u>Chiles v. Phelps</u> , 714 So. 2d 453 (Fla. 1998)
Department of Legal Affairs v. Rogers, 329 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 1976)
Department of Legal Affairs v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club, Inc., 434 So. 2d 879 (Fla. 1983)9
<u>Harris v. Bryan</u> , 89 So. 2d 601 (Fla. 1956)
<u>Knealing v. Puleo</u> , 675 So. 2d 593 (Fla. 1996)
Michelson v. State, 927 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005) 15
In re Public Defender's Certification of Conflict and Motion to Withdraw Due to Excessive Caseload, 709 So. 2d 101 (Fla. 1998)
Ray v. Mortham, 742 So. 2d 1276 (Fla. 1999) 19,20,22,24
Richardson v. Richardson, 766 So. 2d 1036 (Fla. 2000) 21
Rubio v. State, 967 So. 2d at 775
<u>Schmitt v. State</u> , 590 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1991) 20,21
<u>Small v. Sun Oil Company</u> , 222 So. 2d 196 (Fla. 1969) 20
<u>Smith v. Department of Insurance</u> , 507 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1987)
<u>State v. Lee</u> , 356 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 1978)
State v. Rubio, 967 So. 2d 768 (Fla. 2007) 20

Strickla	<u>nd v. Washington</u> , 466 U.S. 668 (1984) 18
	s County v. Northeast Builders Association, 2d 635 (Fla. 1991)
St. Vinc	ent's Medical Center, Inc. v. Memorial Healthcare 967 So. 2d 794 (Fla. 2007)
Wiggins	<u>v. Smith</u> , 539 U.S. 510 (2003)
Zingale	<u>v. Powell</u> , 885 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 2004) 9
FLORIDA	CONSTITUTION
Article	V, section 14 5,12,14
Article	V, section 18 passim
Article	XI, section (1)(a) 7,12,13
FLORIDA	STATUTES
Section	27.40
Section	27.48
Section	27.511 3,11,23,25
Section	27.5304
Section	29.0015,6,12
Section	29.0086
Section	43.16
Section	393.12

LAWS OF FLORIDA
Chapter 2007-62 passim
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Fla. Atty. Gen. Op. 065-15 (February 17, 1965)
Rule 9.310(b)(2), Fla. R. App. P
Rule 1.140, Fla. R. Civ. P

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal is from a final order entered by the Circuit Court in and for Leon County, granting a petition for a writ of quo warranto and enjoining further operation of the Offices of Criminal Conflict and Civil Regional Counsel created by chapter 2007-62, section 4, Laws of Florida. The First District Court of Appeal certified the appeal pursuant to Appellate Rule 9.125 as one requiring immediate resolution, and this Court accepted jurisdiction on January 15, 2007.

Petitioner, the Florida Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers, Inc. ("FACDL"), originally filed the petition in this Court on September 20, 2007. The petition was transferred on October 18, 2007 to the circuit court. See Florida Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers, Inc. v. Crist, Case No. SC07-1744. The petition challenged the appointment of respondents Jeffrey Lewis, Jackson Flyte, Joseph George, Jr., Philip Massa, and Jeffrey Deen to the Office of Criminal Conflict and Civil Regional ("OCCCRCs"). It alleged that chapter 2007-62

established a second tier of public defender offices to handle criminal conflict cases where a conflict of interest would result from representation by the first, existing tier.

Petition, p. 6 (emphasis added). According to the petition, the OCCCRCs violated article V, section 18, of the Florida Constitution because the Regional Counsel were neither elected nor required to reside in a circuit in which they were elected.

A. Background

In the 2007 session, the Legislature enacted CS/SB 1088, chapter 2007-62, Laws of Florida. The act establishes five Offices of Criminal Conflict and Civil Regional Counsel to be headed by appointed counsel. Each OCCCRC is located within the geographic boundaries of one of the five district courts of appeal. The OCCCRCs are assigned to the Justice Administrative Commission² for administrative purposes, but they "are not subject to control, supervision, or direction by the commission in the performance of their duties. . . ." Id. § 4. The five Regional Counsel are appointed to a term of four years by the governor subject to confirmation by the Florida Senate. Id.

The OCCCRCs provide legal representation to certain persons entitled to representation at public expense. This includes indigent persons the public defender is unable to represent because of a conflict of interest or lack of legal

¹ As of the date of filing this brief, counsel for appellants had not received the index to the record. The brief will therefore cite to documents.

² Created by section 43.16, Florida Statutes.

authorization. Id. § 1 (amending § 27.48, Fla. Stat.) and § 4 (creating § 27.511(5), Fla. Stat.).

Chapter 2007-62 also expressly provides that the OCCCRCs have primary responsibility for representing persons entitled to court-appointed counsel in civil proceedings, "including, but not limited to § 393.12, and chapters 39, 390, 392, 397, 415, 743, 744, and 984, [Florida Statutes]." Chap. 2007-62, § 4 (creating § 27.511(6)(a), Fla. Stat.). These civil proceedings include, inter alia, child dependency matters, petitions to terminate pregnancies, involuntary commitments for substance abuse, guardianships, etc. When the public defender's office has a conflict of interest, the OCCCRCs must also provide legal services under part I of chapter 394 (the Baker Act), part V of chapter 394 (involuntary civil commitment of sexually violent predators), and chapter 393 (relating to developmental disabilities), Florida Statutes. § 27.511(5)(a), Fla. Stat.

It was the stated intent of the Legislature that criminal and civil representation be provided "in a fiscally sound manner, while safeguarding constitutional principles." Chap. 2007-62, § 4 (creating § 27.511(1), Fla. Stat.). The Legislature expressly found that:

The creation of offices of criminal conflict and civil regional counsel and the other provisions of this act are necessary and best steps toward enhancing the publicly funded provision of legal representation and other due process services under constitutional and statutory principles in a fiscally responsible and effective manner.

Id. § 31.

The OCCCRCs are intended to replace the previous system under which private attorneys were appointed by courts and paid by the state to provide representation. Private counsel may still provide representation if an OCCCRC is unable to do so because of a conflict of interest. Id. § 1 (amending § 27.40(2)(a) & (b), Fla. Stat). Private counsel are paid flat fees prescribed annually in the General Appropriations Act. Id. § 11 (amending § 27.5304, Fla. Stat.). A legislative committee staff analysis report prepared for the bill stated that this new system was expected to save the state \$9.7 million in fiscal year 2007-08 and \$18.8 million in fiscal year 2008-09. March 28, 2007 Professional Staff Analysis for CS/SB 1088. (App. B, p. 6). The Legislature appropriated \$29.4 million in general revenue funds for the five OCCCRCs for fiscal year 2007-2008. Chapter 2007-62, § 4, Laws of Florida.

Chapter 2007-62 was approved and signed into law by Governor Crist on May 24, 2007. Thereafter, the Governor appointed appellants Jeffrey Lewis, Jackson Flyte, Joseph George, Jr., Philip Massa, and Jeffrey Deen as criminal conflict and civil regional counsel ("Regional Counsel") for their respective regions.

B. Proceedings in the Circuit Court

The petition for writ of quo warranto sought to enjoin the Regional Counsel from providing representation to indigent persons on the ground that they were "second tier public defender offices." Petition, p. 6. The petition mentioned in passing that the OCCCRCs were authorized "to represent indigent clients in certain civil proceedings," Petition p. 3, but said nothing more about them, did not identify those proceedings, and in no way challenged the legal authority of the OCCCRCs to provide such representation.

As support for its contention that the OCCCRCs were "second tier public defender offices," FACDL relied on the amendment to section 29.001, Florida Statutes, relating to funding the OCCCRCs. Pursuant to article V, section 14(c) of the Florida Constitution, counties have certain limited funding responsibilities for the trial courts, public defenders' offices, state attorneys, and clerks of court. Section 16 of chapter 2007-62, amended section 29.001, Florida Statutes, to define the offices of public defenders to include the OCCCRCs for purposes of receiving limited county funding:

³ The Petition also set forth as a "policy argument" that Regional Counsel could not as a matter of law provide adequate counsel to indigents because they were not elected to their offices, and therefore chapter 2007-62 violated the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. FACDL did not pursue this argument at the hearing, and the trial court did not address it.

29.001 State courts system elements and definitions.

(1) For the purpose of implementing s. 14, Art. V of the State Constitution, the state courts system is defined to include the enumerated elements of the Supreme Court, district courts of appeal, circuit courts, county courts, and certain supports thereto. The offices of public defenders and state defined attorneys are to include enumerated elements of t.he 2.0 state attorneys' offices and the enumerated elements of the 20 public defenders' offices and five offices of criminal conflict and civil regional counsel. Court-appointed are defined include counsel to enumerated elements for counsel appointed to ensure due process in criminal and civil proceedings in accordance with state and federal constitutional guarantees. Funding the state courts system, the state attorneys' offices, the public defenders' offices, the offices of criminal conflict and civil regional counsel, and other courtappointed counsel shall be provided from state revenues appropriated by general law.

<u>See also ch. 2007-62</u>, § 19 (amending section 29.008, Fla. Stat., and providing for limited county funding of OCCCRCs). It is not known how much the counties would contribute to the OCCCRCs on a yearly basis. See Professional Staff Analysis (App. B, p. 6).

The petition did not explicitly challenge the constitutionality of the county funding requirement, and at the hearing before the circuit court FACDL disclaimed any intent to do so.⁴ FACDL merely asserted that section 29.001 was evidence

⁴ The appellants' response in opposition in the trial court asserted that FACDL had no standing to question the counties' responsibility for funding. The hearing was not reported but

that Regional Counsel were "second tier public defenders" and in violation of article V, § 18 because they were not elected or required to reside in a circuit they represented. Petition, p. 7 (¶¶ 14-22). FACDL relied principally on this Court's decision in Bush v. Holmes, 919 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 2006), which held that the Opportunity Scholarship Program violated article XI, section 1(a) of the Florida Constitution because it authorized an alternative school system.

Because the petition presented no challenge to the OCCCRCs' duty to provide representation in civil proceedings, appellants responded to the only two issues presented: i) whether the Regional Counsel were public defenders, and ii) whether the rights of indigents' to adequate representation under the Sixth Amendment were violated. See Response In Opposition To Petition For Writ of Quo Warranto.

Appellants asserted that the Regional Counsel could not be considered "public defenders" under article V, section 18 because they do not perform any duties that public defenders are required to perform. Public defenders cannot provide representation to persons when there is a conflict of interest. Thus, when an OCCCRC represents a criminal defendant, it does

FACDL's counsel represented to the trial court that they were not challenging the funding mechanism of the act, and the court's order granting the writ stated it was not considering any such issue. Order p. 4.

not provide representation that a public defender is authorized to provide. Further, appellants contended that chapter 2007-62 created no alternative system such as the one this Court found invalid in Bush in that the establishment of the Regional Counsel does not conflict with or affect the operation of the statewide system of public defenders' offices; all 20 public defenders remain elected and reside in the circuit they represent. Because nothing in the Florida Constitution restricted the authority of the Legislature to create the OCCCRCs, they were constitutional.

The trial court adopted the argument of FACDL, ruling that chapter 2007-62 could not alter the requirement of article V, section 18 that a public defender "be elected and reside in the territorial jurisdiction of his or her respective circuit. . . . " Order, p. 6. It characterized the OCCCRCs as a "hybrid" agency because counties were required to provide partial funding. Id. Notwithstanding the fact that the petition had not challenged the OCCCRCs' authority to provide representation in civil cases, the trial court enjoined the Regional Counsel from performing any of the duties of that office, criminal or civil. Id., p. 7. In light of FACDL's pleadings and the appellants' response, the trial court was not unaware of the significant civil responsibilities that chapter 2007-62 imposed upon the OCCCRCs. Its order granting the writ

explicitly recognized the OCCCRCs' "primary responsibility for providing representation in civil proceedings." Order, p. 3. Nonetheless, it enjoined OCCCRC from providing representation in civil cases. Appellants immediately filed a notice of appeal to avail themselves of the automatic stay. See Rule 9.310(b)(2), Fla. R. App. P.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court decision on the constitutionality of a statute presents a pure issue of law, and accordingly is reviewed de novo. Zingale v. Powell, 885 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 2004). has declared "When а court а state statute unconstitutional, the reviewing court must begin the process with a presumption that the statute is valid." St. Vincent's Medical Center, Inc. v. Memorial Healthcare Group, 967 So. 2d 794, 799 (Fla. 2007)(citing Dep't of Legal Affairs v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club, Inc., 434 So. 2d 879, 881 (Fla. 1983)). All doubts as to the validity of a statute are resolved in favor of its constitutionality. Dep't of Legal Affairs v. Rogers, 329 So. 2d 257, 263 (Fla. 1976).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The OCCCRCs are not public defenders. They provide representation in criminal cases only when the public defender, because of a conflict of interest, cannot. The OCCCRCs therefore do not constitute an impermissible alternative system, such as was found in Bush v. Holmes, 919 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 2006), that displaces, competes with, or affects the public defenders' offices. Hence, the principle "expressio unius est exclusio alterius" does not apply, and the creation of the OCCCRCs does not offend article V, section 18 of the Florida Constitution.

The fact that counties may be required to provide limited funding to OCCCRCs changes neither the character of those offices nor their limited responsibility for criminal cases. FACDL did not challenge the constitutionality of the funding arrangement, the trial court did not consider that question, and it is not before this Court for review. Accordingly, FACDL has not met its heavy burden to demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt that any part of chapter 2007-62 is invalid.

FACDL also contended as a "policy" matter that the Sixth

Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel will be impaired because the Regional Counsel are appointed, not elected. Neither evidence nor case law supported this

contention, FACDL did not argue it at the hearing, and the trial court's order properly ignored the claim.

Finally, even if the establishment of the OCCCRCs' to provide representation in criminal cases is unconstitutional, it is severable from the remainder of chapter 2007-62, which authorizes OCCCRCs to provide representation in civil cases. This responsibility is separable from other provisions, and the overall purpose of the act—to limit the use of private counsel and reduce costs to the state—can still be served. Chapter 2007-62 contains a severability clause and courts have inherent authority under separation of powers principles to save all valid portions of a legislative act.

ARGUMENT

I. THE OCCCRCS ARE NOT PUBLIC DEFENDERS UNDER ARTICLE V, SECTION 18 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

The legal character of the OCCCRCs depends on what they do, not on how they might be funded. In criminal matters the purpose of the OCCCRCs is to provide representation when the public defender cannot fulfill that obligation because of a conflict of interest. Chapter 2007-62, § 4, Laws of Florida (creating § 27.511(5), Fla. Stat.). OCCCRCs simply constitute an available pool of attorneys who are no more "public defenders" than are private counsel who might be appointed in conflict cases.

FACDL contends, however, that OCCCRCs are "simply public defenders by a different name" and therefore chapter 2007-62 is invalid because, contrary to article V, section 18, the Regional Counsel are not elected or required to reside in a circuit in which they are elected. FACDL finds support for this argument only in the amended section 29.001(1), which provides that "for purposes of implementing article V, section 14," the offices of public defenders "are defined to include . . . the enumerated elements of the 20 public defenders' offices and five offices of criminal conflict and civil regional counsel." § 29.001(1), Fla. Stat. (as amended by ch. 2007-62, § 16). Article V, section 14 of the Florida Constitution is entitled "Funding" and requires limited county funding for the court system, including the public defenders' offices.

Requiring the counties to participate in funding the operation of the OCCCRCs in no way creates a substitute or alternative public defender system. The OCCCRCs provide representation only when the public defenders cannot. The trial court's (and FACDL's) reliance on article V, section 18 and <u>Bush v. Holmes</u>, 919 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 2006), for their contrary argument is entirely misplaced. In <u>Bush</u>, this Court concluded that the Opportunity Scholarship Program violated article XI, section (1)(a) of the Florida Constitution because it devoted "the state's resources to the education of children within our

state through means other than a system of free public schools."

Id. at 407. The uniformity requirement of article XI, section (1)(a), the Court held, embodied "both a mandate to provide for children's education and a restriction on the execution of that mandate."

Id. at 406. That constitutional provision required that the state provide "a uniform, high quality system of free public education." It did not "authorize additional equivalent alternatives." Id. at 408.

In contrast, article V, section 18 does not mandate that public defenders shall provide representation for all indigent criminal defendants regardless of conflicts of interest. In authorizing representation by OCCCRCs only in criminal cases in which there is a conflict of interest, Chapter 2007-62 does not create a parallel system of unelected public defenders that competes with the existing system of public defenders. Unlike the public school system in <u>Bush</u>, the public defenders' offices remain unaffected by the enactment; they lose nothing to the OCCCRCs. As prescribed in article V, section 18, there is still an elected public defender in each circuit who performs duties "prescribed by general law" and who is permitted to hire

As pointed out, FACDL has at no time asserted article V, section 18 or any other constitutional provision precludes the assignment of civil cases to the OCCCRCs. That would be untenable. Article V, section 18 states that public defenders "shall perform duties prescribed by general law." Clearly, the Legislature may in its discretion assign civil cases to the OCCCRCs.

assistants. The OCCCRCs do not function in such circumstances as "additional equivalent alternatives" to public defenders.

See Bush, 919 So. 2d at 408. The principle of construction on which the Court relied in Bush -- expressio unius est exclusio alterius -- therefore has no application here.

In paragraph 13 of its petition, FACDL contended that

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