IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA GOVERNOR CHARLIE CRIST;
KEN PRUITT, AS PRESIDENT OF THE
FLORIDA SENATE; KURT BROWNING, AS
SECRETARY OF STATE; AND JEFFREY
LEWIS, JACKSON FLYTE, JOSEPH GEORGE,
JR., PHILIP MASSA, AND JEFFREY DEEN,
AS CRIMINAL CONFLICT AND CIVL
REGIONAL COUNSEL,

Case No. SC08-02

Appellants,

vs.

FLORIDA ASSOCIATION OF CRIMINAL DEFENSE LAWYERS, INC.,

Appellee.

	/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit, In and For Leon County, Florida

Sonya Rudenstine Florida Bar No. 0711950 1221 N.E. 3rd Street Gainesville, FL 32601 Tel.: 352-359-3972

D. Todd Doss
Florida Bar Number 910384
725 S.E. Baya Drive, Ste. 102

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

manner other than that provided in the Constitution).

Finally, Appellants assert that FACDL "has ignored the strong interest of the Legislature in controlling the cost to the state of appointing private counsel in all criminal conflict cases and civil cases in which persons are entitled to appointed counsel." (Appellants' Brief at 16) This argument fails for several reasons. Most importantly, regardless of the stated intentions of the Legislature in enacting legislation, desire to save money can never trump the Constitutional invalidity of a statute. Makemson v. Martin County, 491 So. 2d 1109, 1112 (Fla. 1986) (invalidating statutory caps for courtappointed counsel as applied because although "it is ordinarily well within the legislature's province to appropriate funds for public purposes and resolve questions of compensation, . . . we find that the statutory maximum fees, as inflexibly imposed in involving unusual or extraordinary circumstances, cases interfere with the defendant's sixth amendment right 'to have assistance of counsel for his defense." (citation the omitted). If it could, the Legislature could do away with representation for indigent criminal defendants altogether, so long as it stated that its main purpose was to save state resources.

Additionally, the Legislature enunciated in Chapter 2007-62

that it sought first "to provide adequate representation to persons entitled to court-appointed counsel under the Federal or State Constitution or as authorized by general law." Ch. 2007-62, § 4, at 6 (creating 27.511(1), Fla. Stat.) (emphasis added). It is FACDL's contention that the Legislature has failed to meet this goal because the State Constitution requires that public defenders be elected not appointed and that there be one in every judicial circuit.

Even were financial concerns relevant, Appellants offered no evidence in the court below to substantiate its claim that this bill will indeed save the taxpayers any money. Appellants' mere assertion that the Legislature "anticipates significant savings as a result of the enactment of chapter 2007-62" (Appellants' Brief at 16) is not competent evidence. Neither is their citation to a ten-year-old case in which Justice Overton noted instances of overbilling by private attorneys in criminal conflict cases at a time before the Justice Administrative Commission was responsible for monitoring and paying bills in conflict cases. (Appellants' Brief at 16) (citing In re Public Defender's Certification of Conflict and Motion to Withdraw Due to Excessive Caseload, 709 So. 2d 101, (Fla. 1998) (Overton, J., concurring)). Indeed, Executive Director of the Justice Administrative Commission,

Victoria Montanero, the Appellants' own witness at the circuit court hearing on FACDL's motion to lift the automatic stay in this case, testified regarding all of the safeguards employed by her agency to prevent overbilling by private counsel and that she considers herself a careful guardian of the State's limited resources. (Appellants' Emergency Motion to Reinstate Stay, Appendix B at T. 58-9). She also testified that private, courtappointed counsel are not permitted to bill the state or counties for overhead expenses. Id. at T. 55-6. Because the taxpayers are responsible for paying for office space and equipment costs required to house and run the OCCCRC, Ch. 2007-62, §§ 16, 19, at 29, 31-2, the evidence below suggests, if anything, that taxpayers could actually save by eliminating the OCCCRC and restoring the private registry system. 8 Certainly Appellants have presented no evidence to the contrary.

BIT should be noted that the Staff Analysis of Senate Bill 1088 cited by Appellants indicates that the Legislature anticipated that the bill would reduce state costs. Appellants make no attempt, nor does the Staff Analysis, to quantify the added costs of overhead to the counties resulting from the creation of the OCCCRC, costs that previously had been covered by private, court-appointed counsel. Thus, there is no conclusive evidence in the record at all to demonstrate that the bill will save taxpayer dollars overall, even if it protects state resources. Since the stated purpose of Chapter 2007-62 is to provide representation to indigent in a "fiscally responsible and effective manner," Ch. 2007-62, § 31(1), at 45; see also id., §

In sum, the plain language of Chapter 2007-62 alters the Constitutional requirements for public defenders as they relate to the CCCRC. Governor Crist's appointments of the CCCRC therefore exceeded his constitutional authority and must be quashed.

II. THE ACT VIOLATES THE POLICY CONSIDERATIONS THAT GAVE RISE TO ARTICLE V, SECTION 18 OF THE FLORIDA CONSITUTION.

While FACDL asserts herein that the plain language of Chapter 2007-62 unequivocally establishes that the Legislature intended to create a second tier of public defender offices when it established the OCCCRC, should this Court disagree, it is appropriate for it to examine the primary public policy reason behind the constitutional requirement that public defenders be elected. See Fla. Dep't. of Business and Professional Regulation v. Gulfstream Park Racing Assoc., Inc., 912 So. 2d 616, 618 (1st DCA 2005) (declaring section 550.615(6) of the Florida Statutes unconstitutional in part because it "does not promote any valid public policy."), aff'd., 967 So. 2d 802 (Fla. 2007); cf. Holmes, 919 So. 2d at 407-08. As this Court stated in State v. Brummer, 426 So. 2d 532 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, Brummer v.

^{4(1),} at 6, the operative analysis is not whether the *state* will save money, but whether the bill will save both the state *and* the counties money. This was neither argued nor demonstrated by Appellants in the court below.

Florida, 464 U.S. 823 (1983), "an indispensable element of the effective performance of [the public defender'sl responsibilities is the ability to act independently of the Government and to oppose it in adversary litigation." Id at 533. Article V, section 18 serves to prevent the inherent conflict that arises when an indigent person defending herself against the state is assigned counsel who was appointed by state officials whose very livelihood is dependent and on reappointment every four years by those same officials.

This conflict is avoided by the assignment of elected public defenders or court-appointed private attorneys to criminal conflict cases. See Petition at 13. Appellants make the counter-argument that if it were true that counsel for court-appointed clients either must be elected or court-appointed, the capital collateral regional counsel "would be unconstitutional as they are not elected or appointed." There is, however, no constitutionally protected right to court-appointed counsel in collateral proceedings. See, e.g., State v. Kilgore, 2007 Fla. LEXIS 2201, at *8 (Fla. Nov. 21, 2007). Thus, the example is inapposite.

FACDL concedes that even pursuant to this policy argument, the Legislature certainly would have had the power to create an entity to represent indigent clients in certain of the *civil*

proceedings currently handled by the CCCRC without requiring that the CCCRC be elected in every circuit for such purpose, since there is no constitutional right to representation in many of these proceedings and they do not place appointed counsel in an adversarial role opposite the state. To do so, however, the Legislature would have had to draft Chapter 2007-62 in such a way as to create one entity run by an appointed official to represent clients against the state in criminal conflict cases, for whom there exists a constitutional right to counsel, and one that would represent clients in many of the civil proceedings currently assigned to the OCCCRC. That is not, however, the Legislature drafted. The constitutionally statute that the quaranteed responsibilities of the CCCRC are not severable from those that are not constitutionally guaranteed. See Section III, supra. Thus, where public policy dictates that public defenders providing constitutionally mandated representation against the state be elected, as FACDL argues it does, such public policy informs and supports the plain language reading of Chapter 2007-62 discussed in Section I, supra.

The exception would be in dependency proceedings in which the parent faces possible permanent termination of parental rights or where s/he may be charged with criminal child abuse. See S.B. v. Dep't. of Children and Families, 851 So. 2d 689, 692-93 (Fla. 2003).

III. CHAPTER 2007-62 AS WRITTEN CANNOT BE IMPLEMENTED IF THE UNCONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION IS EXCISED FROM THE STATUTE.

A. The Trial Court Properly Enjoined the CCCRC From Performing Any Duties Pursuant to Chapter 2007-62.

Appellants argue that if this Court declares the OCCCRC unconstitutional, it should sever the provisions pertaining to the criminal conflict duties of the CCCRC and leave in place provisions allowing for the appointment of the CCCRC to civil cases. (Appellants' Brief at 18-9) This inquiry, however, would simply be inapplicable if this Court held that the CCCRC were unconstitutionally appointed. Because article V, section 18 provides that public defenders be elected in each judicial circuit, the Appellant CCCRCs are not entitled to hold office

 $^{^{10}\}mathrm{In}$ their Statement of the Case and Facts, Appellants assert that FACDL's Petition for Writ of Quo Warranto "in no way challenged the legal authority of the OCCCRCs to provide [civil] representation." Appellants' Brief at 5; see also Appellants' Brief at 8 ("Notwithstanding the fact that the petition had not challenged the OCCCRCs' authority to provide representation in civil cases, the trial court enjoined the Regional Counsel from performing any of the duties of that office, criminal or civil."). As previously discussed, FACDL's petition sought "the reversal of the appointment of five Criminal Conflict and Civil Regional Counsel" and "a prohibition of Senate confirmation of the aforementioned individuals." (Petition at 2) The Petition also specifically sought to enjoin the five CCCRC from "performing any duties under the act[,]" not simply their criminal duties. (Petition at 5) (emphasis added). Finally, it sought to have Chapter 2007-62 declared unconstitutional. (Petition at 5) Thus, Appellants' contention is not supported by the record.

and would have to be enjoined from performing all of their official duties, as FACDL requested in its Petition and the trial court found. Thus, they could not accept appointments of any kind, even civil ones.

This Court's decision in State v. Shevin, 250 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 1971), is instructive. In Shevin, the Court reviewed a petition for quo warranto brought by the Florida Attorney General challenging the right of Respondent William Page to hold office in the South Broward Transit Authority District. Then-Governor Claude R. Kirk had appointed Page, but in doing so failed to comply with article IV, section 1(a) Constitution and section 113.051 of the Florida Statutes. 11 The Court held that where Governor Kirk failed to at 257-58. complete the execution of Page's commission as required by law, and his successor Governor Reubin Askew then issued the commission to a different individual, Respondent Page was ousted "from the office he claims to hold and that all authority

¹¹Article IV, section 1(a) of the Florida Constitution "vests the Governor with the 'supreme executive power' and requires him to 'commission all officers of the state and counties.'" State v. Shevin, 250 So. 2d 257, 258 (1971). Section 113.051 of the Florida Statutes (1969) provides, "'All grants and commissions shall be in the name and under the authority of the State of Florida, sealed with the great seal of the state, signed by the governor and countersigned by the secretary of state.'" Id. at 258.

Similarly, here, the trial court found that the CCCRC Appellants were unconstitutionally appointed to public office. of for infirmity of Regardless the reason the appointments, they simply cannot be permitted to perform any official duties. See Peacock v. Wise, 351 So. 2d 1134 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977) (ousting appellant clerk of circuit court from office where his election was declared unconstitutionally executed due to violation of section 101.67(3) of the Florida Statutes, which prohibited absentee ballots and their corresponding applications for absent elector's ballot from being mailed in the same envelope to the supervisor of elections); Smith v. Gill, 166 So. 742 (Fla. 1936) (dismissing quo warranto petition brought by individual seeking right to office of special tax school district trustee where he had no legal claim to that office).

Thus, Appellants' argument that Chapter 2007-62 is severable in such a way that it would allow the CCCRC to be appointed to civil cases is untenable. Had the Legislature created two separate offices, one responsible for handling criminal conflict cases and one responsible for handling civil cases, Appellants' severability analysis would be applicable—that is, it would be appropriate to examine whether the CCCRC

could properly have been appointed by the Governor for the limited purpose of handling civil cases and, if so, whether the provisions providing for their appointment to those cases were severable from the rest of the statute. Chapter 2007-62 was not drafted in that manner, however. Indeed, the very title of the office, "Criminal Conflict and Civil Regional Counsel," precludes severability by type of case. The statute creates one entity to be run by one officer (in five districts) who is to be appointed by the Governor despite the fact that the Governor lacks the constitutional authority to make such appointment. There are simply no provisions, and Appellants have certainly pointed to none in their brief, that could be excised from the statute (without substantive alteration by this Court) provide for the constitutional appointment of the Appellant CCCRC to civil cases.

B. Chapter 2007-62 Cannot Survive the Cramp/Smith Severability Test and Must Therefore Be Declared Null and Void.

Beyond the simple inquiry into whether or not the CCCRC can perform the civil duties prescribed by Chapter 2007-62, this Court could choose to examine whether, when the unconstitutional provision providing for appointment of the CCCRC is voided, any portion of the bill can remain operative pursuant to the severability test enunciated in Cramp v. Board of Public

Instruction of Orange County, 137 So. 2d 828 (Fla. 1962). See also Smith v. Dep't of Insurance, 507 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1987).

Before engaging in such an examination, however, notes that Appellants did not raise the issue of severability before the circuit court in its response to FACDL's Petition, at oral $\operatorname{argument},^{12}$ or in a motion for rehearing following the court's order. FACDL's Petition requested that the court declare Chapter 2007-62 unconstitutional, in toto (Petition at 5, \P B), and the circuit court's order implicitly did so in concluding that "Chapter 2007-62, Laws of Florida, amounts to an attempt to amend the Constitution by legislative fiat" (Order Granting Writ at 5), and by enjoining the CCCRC from performing any of their official duties (Order Granting Writ at 7). Despite this, Appellants failed to raise the issue of severability until its Response in Opposition to Petitioner's Motion to Declare Automatic Stay Inapplicable or, Alternatively, to Dissolve Automatic Stay, No. 2007-CA-2898, at 8 (Leon Cty. Jan. 7, 2008),

¹²Although the oral argument on the Petition was not transcribed, in proceedings pertaining to FACDL's motion to vacate the automatic stay following the circuit court's disposition granting FACDL's Petition, the court explicitly found that Appellants' severability argument was not raised in their oral argument on the Petition. (Appellants' Emergency Motion to Reinstate Stay, Appendix B at T. 145). This factual finding is not controverted by any evidence in the record and must therefore be accepted by this Court. See Fla. Dep't. of State, Division of Elections v. Martin, 916 So. 2d 763 (Fla. 2005).

when the proceedings on the merits of FACDL's Petition were already concluded. Thus, as suggested in $Richardson\ v$. Richardson, 766 So. 2d 1036, 1041 n.4 (Fla. 1999), the issue of severability is not properly before this Court.

Should the Court determine that review of Appellants' severability claim is appropriate, however, Chapter 2007-62 cannot survive the test enunciated in *Cramp*, *supra*, which is as follows:

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